ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court of South Carolina

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-000475

RECEIVED
APR 15 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

State of South Carolina

Respondent,

v.

Michael Levant Mealor

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

RYAN C. ANDREWS
Cobb, Dill & Hammett, LLC
222 W. Coleman Blvd.
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 936-6680

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Public Defender
S.C. Office of Appellate Defense
1205 Pendleton St., Room 306
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Was the Court of Appeals' decision to affirm the lower court's denial of Petitioner's motion for directed verdict in conflict with this Court's holding in *State v. Cain*?
- II. In an issue of first impression, did the Court of Appeals err in determining the trial court did not abuse its discretion by permitting the Respondent's expert, Chad Brooks, to be permitted to testify as to the theoretical yield of methamphetamine production from pseudoephedrine when he was not a chemist?
- III. In an issue of first impression, did the Court of Appeals err in determining that the National Precursor Log Exchange (NPLEx) were properly admitted into evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Court of General Sessions in which Michael Mealor (Petitioner) and other co-defendants were indicted for trafficking over 100 grams of methamphetamine pursuant to S.C. Code § 44-53-0375(C)(3). Petitioner was convicted of trafficking twenty-eight grams or more of methamphetamine under Section 44-53-375(C). Because the Petitioner was not found with any methamphetamine, nor a methamphetamine lab, Respondent's theory of the case was a novel one in terms of quantity as it relied upon the introduction of pseudoephedrine sales logs found in the national precursor database (NPLEx) under the business records exception to hearsay

to prove the quantity of methamphetamine. Also a novel issue, Respondent relied upon a non-chemist expert, Chad Brooks, to testify as to the chemical reactions and theoretical yield of methamphetamine from the amount of pseudoephedrine available. While Respondent did offer testimony of co-conspirators regarding allegedly witnessing Petitioner make or exchange methamphetamine, Respondent did not offer evidence that it was practically possible for Petitioner to obtain this theoretical yield necessary for Petitioner's conviction to be sustained. At trial, Petitioner argued that, given the fact no physical evidence of actual methamphetamine or methamphetamine lab equipment was introduced together with the highly speculative nature of the amount of methamphetamine Petitioner allegedly produced, the Respondent failed to meet the burden necessary to survive a motion for a directed verdict. The trial court denied the motion. (Appx. 532-47).

On appeal¹, Petitioner argued that in light of this Court's holding in *State v. Cain*, 419 S.C. 24, 795 S.E.2d 846 (2017), the denial of Petitioner's motion for directed verdict was in error as the jury was forced to speculate as to the amount of methamphetamine Petitioner could produce. In addition, Petitioner argued that the trial court abused its discretion in permitting Chad Brooks to testify as to the theoretical yield of methamphetamine from the amount of pseudoephedrine available given his educational background. Moreover, Petitioner submitted that the introduction of the NPLeX under the business records exception was in error. However, despite the Court of Appeals noting the *Cain* decision, it ultimately distinguished the same and affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioner's directed verdict motion. It additionally found that the court did not abuse its

¹ When Petitioner received the trial transcript, Petitioner discovered many portions of the transcript were missing due to the court reporter's equipment malfunction. Petitioner subsequently filed a Motion to Reconstruct the Record, which was granted. (See Appx. 767-69). The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell convened a record reconstruction hearing on February 29, 2016, with counsel for Petitioner and Respondent present, and, after conferring with counsel, ordered that the record could properly be reconstructed despite Petitioner's objection. Petitioner initially appealed Judge Stilwell's order regarding the record reconstruction but subsequently withdrew it. This appeal followed.

discretion in permitting Brooks to testify regarding the yield. Initially inexplicably finding that the issue concerning the NPLEx logs were not preserved for appeal, after rehearing, the Court of Appeals affirmed the findings of the lower court that such logs fell within the business records exception to hearsay after Petitioner's Filing for a Request for a Rehearing. This Petition for Writ of Certiorari followed.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Petitioner was indicted by the Pickens County Grand Jury on one count of trafficking over 100 grams of methamphetamine on December 10, 2013. (*See* Appx. 770-71). The case was called for trial on December 16, 2013, with the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell presiding.

At trial, Respondent did not offer into evidence any actual methamphetamine or methamphetamine laboratory equipment. Rather, Respondent was permitted to introduce database records of Petitioner's and co-defendants' alleged purchases of the medication Sudafed over Petitioner's objections. Sudafed's primary ingredient is pseudoephedrine, which is the key component in producing methamphetamine. By law, the amount of pseudoephedrine someone can purchase is restricted, and pharmacies in South Carolina submit records of pseudoephedrine sales to a national precursor database (NPLEx). This database is maintained by Appriss, a private company, located in Kentucky. (Appx. 111 and Appx. 748-58).

Additionally, Respondent presented witnesses at trial whom were employees at CVS, Walgreen's, and Wal-Mart pharmacies (pharmaceutical witnesses). None of the pharmaceutical witnesses testified that they personally witnessed Petitioner or any of the co-defendants purchase pseudoephedrine products, nor did they testify as to the employees whom allegedly sold Petitioner pseudoephedrine. Instead, the pharmaceutical witnesses testified as to their individual pharmacies' policies and procedures regarding pseudoephedrine purchases. The policies and procedures required

that customers wishing to purchase pseudoephedrine must present a government-issued identification card to the pharmaceutical employee whom then scans the card into the NPLEX system. The system allegedly records the purchase or attempted purchase and also notifies the pharmacies if that customer should be prohibited from purchasing the product due to that customer being over his/her limit for allowable purchases. The customer is also required to read and electronically sign a warning concerning the pseudoephedrine purchases. The pharmaceutical witnesses further testified that they do not compare the customers' signatures with that of the signature located on the identification card. Additionally, the pharmaceutical witnesses could not testify as to where the records in which they were entering the Sudafed purchases were sent or kept, with some erroneously believing that the records were being sent to a government database. Lastly, they testified that, in South Carolina, a person can legally purchase up to nine grams of pseudoephedrine per month. This equates to a maximum of 108 grams per year. (Appx. 81-110).

Paul Forst, a business records analyst with Appriss, was called to testify as the records custodian for Appriss in order to introduce the NPLEX Logs into evidence. He testified that his company and law enforcement have access to the NPLEX Logs. Further, he presented NPLEX Logs for the alleged pseudoephedrine purchases made by Petitioner and co-defendants for the 2011 calendar year. The logs did not contain the date in which the logs were requested by law enforcement or Respondent, nor did the logs include Petitioner's or co-defendants' electronic signatures. Petitioner and co-defendants objected to the NPLEX Logs' introduction. (Appx. 111 and Appx. 748-58).

Respondent later called John Ross to explain the pseudoephedrine purchases as to Petitioner and each co-defendant in which the NPLEX Logs allegedly purported. He testified that he monitored the NPLEX for the Pickens County Sheriff's Office and that he first began investigating Petitioner after he noticed a trend of individuals with the same address purchasing pseudoephedrine on the same day

or a few days of each other, and that he suspected those individuals were involved in methamphetamine production. He also stated that during the calendar year, according to the NPLEx Logs, Petitioner allegedly purchased 69.36 grams of pseudoephedrine—well within the legally permitted 108 grams per year. (Appx. 173-209).

Additionally, Respondent introduced the NPLEx Logs for the pseudoephedrine purchases of multiple co-conspirators, whom testified that they gave some of their pseudoephedrine to Petitioner or other co-defendants. Discrepancies in the co-conspirators' testimony remained as to the amount of pseudoephedrine they allegedly gave to Petitioner as some testified that they kept some pseudoephedrine for personal consumption. Further, some co-conspirators admitted their propensity to lie to law enforcement. (Appx. 139-72; Appx. 210-424; Appx. 493-517; and Appx. 525-47).

With the testimony of the pharmaceutical witnesses, Forst, Ross, and co-conspirators, Respondent alleged that Petitioner had an additional 164 grams of pseudoephedrine at his disposal to produce methamphetamine. (Appx. 719).

In attempts to explain the amount of methamphetamine one can produce from pseudoephedrine, Respondent offered Capt. Chad Brooks as an expert in clandestine methamphetamine manufacturing. Brooks, while having experience in narcotics investigations, had only a high school education in chemistry. Nevertheless, over Petitioner's objection, Brooks was permitted to testify as to the chemical reactions and yield rates in the production of methamphetamine using pseudoephedrine. He was permitted to testify as to the different methods of methamphetamine production. Additionally, he testified as to a single instance in which he participated in the production of methamphetamine during a training seminar. This occurred while under the direct supervision of state chemists and while in a group of ten or so people in a SLED controlled laboratory. From this, the group of trainees and chemists were able to produce methamphetamine using the birch method of production at a 92%

pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine yield. Further, Brooks was permitted to testify that the theoretical lowest yield rate was 40% in certain circumstances. The yield rates in which Capt. Brooks testified all assumed that the actual production of methamphetamine was successful. No testimony was offered as to the yield in which Petitioner could produce methamphetamine given the particular environment where Respondent alleged Petitioner produced methamphetamine nor any testimony given as to how proficient Petitioner actually was at producing methamphetamine. (Appx. 424-63).

Petitioner moved for a directed verdict at the close of Respondent's case. Petitioner argued that, given the fact no physical evidence of actual methamphetamine or methamphetamine lab equipment was introduced together with the highly speculative nature of the amount of methamphetamine Petitioner allegedly produced, Respondent failed to meet its burden. The court denied the motion. (Appx. 532-47). At the close of Petitioner's case, Petitioner renewed his directed verdict motion. It was again denied. Respondent then moved to amend the indictment and reduce the amount of trafficking to between 28 and 100 grams, which was granted. (Appx. 673-81).

The jury convicted Petitioner of manufacturing over 28 grams of methamphetamine, to which the court sentenced him to nine years incarceration. (Appx. 746). The Court of Appeals affirmed. For the following reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant this Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals' decision was in conflict with this Court's holding in *State v. Cain*.

By affirming the lower court's decision to deny Petitioner's motion for a directed verdict, the Court of Appeals' decision misapplied the precedent set by this Court in *State v. Cain*. 419 S.C. 24, 795 S.E.2d 846 (2017). In *Cain*, this Court determined that a directed verdict was proper when "the jury [was] in the position of having to speculate as to [a defendant's] efficiency at making

methamphetamine, and therefore having to guess at how much of the drug he attempted to manufacture.” *Id.* at 31, 795 S.E.2d at 850. This Court further stated a directed verdict was necessary when the state offered “no evidentiary basis on which [a] jury could have determined—*without speculating*—the quantity of methamphetamine [a defendant] attempted to manufacture. . . .” *Id.* (emphasis added). In *Cain*, unlike the present case, the defendant was *arrested with actual equipment and ingredients* used to manufacture methamphetamine. *Id.* at 27, 795 S.E.2d at 848 (emphasis added). At trial, an expert *forensic chemist* testified as to the theoretical yield of methamphetamine from pseudoephedrine. *Id.* (emphasis added).

The facts of *Cain* almost mirror the present case, besides the facts of *Cain* actually being found with equipment to manufacture methamphetamine and the state’s testifying expert as to the yield of production was an actual forensic chemist. Indeed, these distinguishing facts from *Cain* only strengthen Petitioner’s argument that the jury in the present case was erroneously forced to speculate as to the amount of methamphetamine in which Petitioner allegedly produced.

When the Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of Petitioner’s directed verdict motion, it did not consider this Court’s instructions that “subsection 44-53-375(C) does not criminalize the theoretical possibility of manufacturing” methamphetamine despite Petitioner noting the same in his Petition for Rehearing. (Appx. 1032). While the Court of Appeals was correct when it noted that multiple witnesses testified Petitioner allegedly provided them with methamphetamine, the record is devoid of any specific amount of methamphetamine Petitioner allegedly did or attempted to produce. In order to provide a specific amount, Respondent would have had to offer testimony regarding how much of the ingredients, other than pseudoephedrine, were needed to produce methamphetamine and how much of these ingredients Petitioner had at his disposal. Additionally, Respondent would need to offer expert testimony regarding Petitioner’s capabilities to establish

the level of efficiency in actual methamphetamine production given the ingredients he utilized as well as the conditions of the environment he used in allegedly producing methamphetamine in order to conform with this Court's finding in *Cain*.

The Court of Appeals ignored *Cain's* ultimate holding when it did not recognize that Respondent presented none of this at trial. Instead, its' opinion relied upon Captain Brooks' testimony of a theoretical yield, which contained no opinion as to Petitioner's specific capabilities. *See Appx.* 1085-86. In addition, it relied upon testimony from co-conspirators, who did not testify as to the specific amounts of methamphetamine allegedly received from Petitioner or testify with certainty as to the specific amounts of pseudoephedrine they allegedly gave to Petitioner. *Id.* Moreover, the record does not indicate any specific amounts of the additional ingredients of methamphetamine the co-conspirators allegedly observed Petitioner to be in possession.

Without testimony regarding the same, the Court of Appeals incorrectly concluded that the jury did not speculate as to the amount of methamphetamine Petitioner allegedly attempted to manufacture in violation of *Cain*. Further, the Court of Appeals disregarded this Court's precedent when it relied on decisions in other jurisdictions to justify the trial court's reliance on Brooks' testimony regarding the theoretical yield of methamphetamine production, specifically Brooks' testimony regarding 40% being allegedly the worst case scenario. The court, in justifying its decision, relies on Brooks testifying that "40 to 50% is the lowest yield percentage of methamphetamine one could possibly get from pseudoephedrine[,] . . . [and] sulfuric acid (drain cleaner), coffee filters, funnels, bottles, Xylene, ether, starter fluid, cut batteries, medication blister packs, and burn piles are all things normally observed at a lab," with co-conspirators stating, at one time, they observed such materials at Petitioner's home. (*Appx.* 1086). Certainly the Court of Appeals failed to recognize this Court's precedent that "[b]ecause the State did not establish the

level of efficiency Cain could have achieved in his attempt to manufacture methamphetamine, the jury was forced to speculate as to whether Cain could have actually produced the requisite quantity.” *Id.* at 33, 795 S.E.2d at 851 (emphasis added). In the present case, there is no evidence of Petitioner’s level of efficiency, and the Court of Appeals notes that as it conceded that “we do not have testimony that Greenfield or [Petitioner] was a ‘good cook.’” (Appx. 1086). It is axiomatic that if there is no specific testimony of the proficiency level of Petitioner in allegedly attempting to manufacture methamphetamine, then the only way a jury could determine a specific quantify regarding the same would be by pure conjecture and speculation.

The Court of Appeals again attempts to avoid the speculation hurdle when it notes that several of the co-conspirator witnesses “testified [Petitioner] or Greenfield would give them methamphetamine in the amount of \$20 or \$40 at a time.” *Id.* It cites two cases in the footnote to the previous quote from two Washington State Appellate Court cases which find that “an individual user can purchase the drug quantities as small as one gram[,]” and also comments that a detective in Washington State believes “that the smallest unit of methamphetamine sold is one gram.” (Appx. 1086 n. 16 (citations omitted)). This is problematic as the Court of Appeals are themselves speculating that the “\$20 or \$40” amount of methamphetamine in which the co-conspirators allude weighs one gram. Indeed, the record is silent on the number of grams of methamphetamine the co-conspirators alleged to have received nor was there any evidence at trial as to how much methamphetamine an individual could buy for \$20 or \$40 in Pickens County. Instead, the Court of Appeals relies on cases from other jurisdictions to explain what the Respondent failed to do at trial. This is in contradiction to this Court’s holding in *Cain* and accordingly, certiorari should be granted.

II. In an issue of first impression, the Court of Appeals incorrectly determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by permitting Chad Brooks to testify as to the yield amount of methamphetamine from pseudoephedrine.

While the Court of Appeals correctly noted that “South Carolina has not discussed the expertise required to testify about the yield of methamphetamine from pseudoephedrine[,]” it erroneously determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in qualifying Brooks as an expert to testify as to theoretical yield of methamphetamine production despite Petitioner’s objection that such testimony should come from an expert chemist. (Appx. 1074). Admission of expert testimony is governed by Rule 702 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, which provides that “[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.”

This Court explains that, the trial court:

[I]n executing its gatekeeping duties . . . must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony. First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury. *See State v. Douglas*, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009) (holding that the witness was improperly qualified as a forensic interviewing expert where the nature of her testimony was based on personal observations and discussions with the child victim.) Next, while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony). Finally, the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable. *See State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (evaluating whether expert testimony on DNA analysis met the reliability requirements).

Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). Brooks' testimony regarding the amount of methamphetamine which could be produced from pseudoephedrine was beyond his expertise as he had no training in chemistry or chemical processes.

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