STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Op. No. 5590 (S.C. Ct. App., Refiled February 27, 2019)
Appeal from Pickens County
Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2019-000475

RECEIVED

JUN 10 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

MICHAEL LEVANT MEALOR,

PETITIONER.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Office of Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

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

Greenfield with Sudafed at times; she knew Petitioner was making methamphetamine; she saw him purchase ether and batteries; and she heard Petitioner and Greenfield talking about cooking methamphetamine and saying they could do it. (R., pp. 305-324, 339).

7. Co-defendant Thomas Rooney testified he gave at least two boxes (5.76 grams) of his 2011 Sudafed purchases to Petitioner and Greenfield, in exchange for methamphetamine and money; he saw Petitioner and Greenfield use the shake and bake method to make methamphetamine in their bedroom "quite a few" times; he saw plastic bottles, big bottles of Coleman fuel, and cut open batteries at the home; and he smelled a strong ammonia type smell in the home when they were making the methamphetamine. (R., pp. 354-364);

8. Co-defendant Billy Miller testified he gave all his 2011 Sudafed purchases (17.28 grams) to Petitioner and Greenfield in exchange for methamphetamine, and they told him they were making methamphetamine. (R., pp. 377-390);

9. Co-defendant Lauren Summerall testified she and her husband purchased Sudafed (7.2 grams) for Petitioner and Greenfield in 2011 in exchange for money and methamphetamine, and they knew Petitioner and Greenfield were making methamphetamine with the Sudafed they provided. (R., pp. 386-390);

10. Co-defendant Michael Hayes testified he gave all of his 2011 Sudafed purchases (60.74 grams) to Petitioner in exchange for methamphetamine, which he picked up a few days after he provided the Sudafed. (R., pp. 400-407);

11. Co-defendant Amanda Hurley testified Petitioner and Greenfield gave her and her husband money to purchase Sudafed in 2011, and they gave about one-half (23.02 grams) of their 2011 Sudafed purchases to Petitioner and Greenfield. (R., pp. 509-514).

12. In addition to the pseudoephedrine they received from the co-defendants, Petitioner and Greenfield each purchased over sixty-five grams of pseudoephedrine in 2011. (R., pp. 756-760; 761-765); and

13. Capt. Brooks testified pseudoephedrine, ether, Coleman fuel and lithium (from cut open batteries) are used in the shake and bake method of making methamphetamine; plastic bottles are used rather than glass bottles because the plastic expands more so the person can feel when the pressure builds, and they are plastic bottles generally safer than glass bottles; methamphetamine manufacturers use other people to purchase pseudoephedrine for them in order to avoid the legal limitations (smurfing); based on his training and experience, the yield rates of pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine are from 40% to 92%; bottles used in the shake and bake method are easy to clean or discard so they are very portable for use as a methamphetamine lab; and the manufacturing process creates a very strong ammonia smell (R., pp. 432-455).

14. According to the NPLEX records and co-defendants' testimony, Petitioner received a total of 234 grams of pseudoephedrine in 2011. If Petitioner's personal purchases were all for medicinal purposes, he received a total of 164.64 grams of pseudoephedrine.

Thus, there was ample evidence establishing Petitioner engaged in a year long conspiracy resulting in the actual manufacturing and trafficking of methamphetamine.⁵ In addition to the direct evidence, there was significant circumstantial evidence regarding the amount of pseudoephedrine the co-defendants supplied to Petitioner for the express purpose of manufacturing methamphetamine. Considered in its entirety, the direct and circumstantial evidence was sufficient for the jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Petitioner conspired to traffick between twenty-eight and one hundred grams of methamphetamine during the course of the 2011 conspiracy.

Petitioner also asserts a directed verdict was warranted because the State failed to present evidence regarding "any specific amounts of the additional ingredients of methamphetamine" he ever possessed. This assertion is likewise unavailing.

In Varble v. Commonwealth, 125 S.W.3d 246 (Ky. 2004), the Kentucky Supreme Court rejected the defendant's argument he could not be convicted of manufacturing methamphetamine because no anhydrous ammonia or coffee filters were recovered. The court noted testimony about an odor of anhydrous ammonia from two air tanks and disclosure of brass fittings likely caused by

⁵South Carolina Code §44-53-375 provides that a person who knowingly sells, **manufactures, delivers** or purchases, or otherwise aids, abets, **attempts or conspires** to sell, manufacture, deliver or purchase ten grams or more of methamphetamine is guilty of the felony of trafficking in methamphetamine. Contrary to Petitioner's contention the State's theory was "one of attempt," the State contended that in furtherance of a continuing criminal conspiracy between January and December 2011, Petitioner knowingly manufactured, or conspired to manufacture, between twenty-eight and one hundred grams of methamphetamine. For purposes of the directed verdict analysis, the Court of Appeals found the State "presented evidence from which the jury could find [Petitioner] **manufactured or attempted to manufacture** over twenty-eight grams of methamphetamine." Mealor, 825 S.E.2d at 73 (emphasis added).

anhydrous ammonia was circumstantial evidence of possession of the precursor. In rejecting the defendant's argument, the Kentucky Supreme Court commented: "Petitioner's argument is akin to claiming that his possession of twenty-two Sudafed blister packs would not support his conviction because the blister packs were empty." *Id.* at 254. *See also United States v. Beshore*, 961 F.2d 1380, 1383 (8th Cir.) (noting an approximation of a drug quantity "does not require that every precursor chemical be present").

As the Court of Appeals found, there was testimony from co-defendants regarding first-hand observations of Petitioner participating in activities related to the manufacturing of methamphetamines at Petitioner's residence, as well as the presence of odors associated with manufacturing methamphetamine, plastic drink bottles, Coleman fuel, and cut open batteries. This evidence established Petitioner not only possessed the necessary precursor ingredients for manufacturing methamphetamine, he actually used those ingredients to manufacture methamphetamine over the course of the year long conspiracy.⁶

Taken to its logical conclusion, Petitioner's assertion that proof of not only the actual possession of precursor ingredients is required, but evidence of the amount of each ingredient possessed is required, leads to the absurd result that people (such as Petitioner) engaged in a lengthy conspiracy to manufacture methamphetamine, during which they actually manufacture methamphetamine, can only be charged for the methamphetamine they actually possess at the time of their arrest, if any, and only the precursor ingredients they possess at that time may be used to determine the amount of methamphetamine they manufactured during the entire conspiracy.

⁶The yield rates used by the federal government, and most experts in the field, only consider the amount of pseudoephedrine at issue, and the yield rates differ according to the cook's expertise, including the type and amount of precursor ingredients (other than pseudoephedrine) the cook uses.

Given the extremely portable and disposable nature of most clandestine methamphetamine labs, particularly those using the shake and bake manufacturing method Petitioner used, law enforcement will rarely be able to make a trafficking case, which essentially nullifies the legislative intent of §44-53-375.

Finally, Petitioner's contention the jury could only speculate about the amount of methamphetamine he manufactured over the course of the continuing conspiracy ignores the express language of the statute and the evidence presented. The statute provides a trafficking charge arises in cases involving ten or more grams of methamphetamine, an amount easily established by the methamphetamine Petitioner gave his co-defendants after they supplied him with pseudoephedrine. Further, even assuming Petitioner was not a skilled methamphetamine cook, and could only produce a yield rate of twenty percent pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine, the amount yielded by the pseudoephedrine he received in 2011 still exceeded twenty-eight grams. (Appendix, pp. 1001-1002).

In affirming the denial of Petitioner's directed verdict motion, this Court properly considered the Supreme Court's holding in Cain, and thoroughly analyzed the law in other jurisdictions regarding the admissibility of testimony regarding theoretical pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine yield rates. Accordingly, Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied on this issue.

II. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the circuit court's qualification of the State's expert and admission of the expert's testimony regarding theoretical pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine yields, because the expert had significant training regarding the operation of clandestine methamphetamine labs, including the commonly used mathematical formula for converting pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine.

Petitioner also contends the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court's qualification of Captain Brooks as an expert in clandestine lab manufacturing and the admission of reliability of his testimony, particularly on the issue of theoretical pseudoephedrine to methamphetamine yield rates from such labs. Petitioner does not dispute Captain Brooks' qualification "as an expert in investigation and detection of methamphetamine labs," but contends Captain Brooks' expert qualifications did not allow him to testify "to chemical processes such as methamphetamine production." (Pet. For Cert., p. 11).

In affirming the admission of Captain Brooks' testimony, the Court of Appeals thoroughly reviewed and discussed the testimony regarding Captain Brooks' qualifications, as well as federal and state case law and other authoritative sources, on the issue of admissibility of testimony regarding theoretical yield rates. Mealor, 825 S.E.2d at 64-68. Petitioner literally ignores the analysis of the authorities cited by the Court of Appeals, contending the cited cases are distinguishable simply because the defendants possessed precursor ingredients at the time of their arrests. Rather than address the legal analysis of those decisions, Petitioner instead cites to cases in which the police experts were **not** called to testify about theoretical yield rates, with one of the cited cases essentially finding manufacturing methamphetamine is not "rocket science," and "methamphetamine cooking is relatively easy and is done by numerous persons without a higher education." State v. McPherson, 111 Wash.App. 747, 46 P.3d 284, 292 (2002). The cases cited by the Court of Appeals, however, directly address and analyze the admissibility of theoretical yield testimony.

Petitioner contends this Court's Cain decision indicates a chemistry expert is required to testify about theoretical yield rates because they are calculated using a scientific theory and involve chemical processes and reactions, and therefore, Captain Brooks' testimony about the rates was unreliable and inadmissible. He also asserts (again) the testimony was unreliable because it could not assist the jury in determining how much methamphetamine Petitioner could produce in the absence of evidence regarding the amount of precursor ingredients he ever possessed.

The Cain decision is not as broad as Petitioner asserts, and it is factually distinguishable from the instant case. In Cain, the **only** evidence regarding the quantity of methamphetamine the defendant produced was the chemist's testimony regarding the theoretical yield of methamphetamine based on empty pseudoephedrine packages found in the defendant's residence. Significantly, this Court found there was no evidence the defendant "even knew how to manufacture methamphetamine," and the chemist's testimony provided "no basis for calculating the level of efficiency [the defendant] could actually have reached under the circumstances that existed in the house." 419 S.E.2d at 850.

As detailed in the Court of Appeals opinion in the instant case, unlike Cain, there was evidence Petitioner had successfully manufactured methamphetamine on multiple occasions in 2011. According to the co-defendants' testimony, Petitioner himself bragged that he could produce methamphetamine better and more efficiently than could be obtained from other street sources. Thus, there was ample evidence regarding Petitioner's ability to manufacture methamphetamine from pseudoephedrine using the "one pot" method, and his actual production

of methamphetamine.⁷

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion the expert qualification and testimony issue is a novel one, the law regarding qualification of an expert and admissibility of expert testimony is not an issue of first impression in South Carolina. The Court of Appeals' analysis of the expert testimony issue in this case is thorough, well-reasoned, and premised on well-established law. Petitioner's grounds for review of this issue are meritless, and the Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied on this issue.

⁷Petitioner emphasizes the Court's statement there was no evidence he was a "good cook" of methamphetamine. While no witness used that particular term, Petitioner's own statements, and the fact the co-defendants continued to get their methamphetamine from him, implies he was a good methamphetamine cook.

III. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the admission of NPLEX Logs under the business records hearsay exception because the Logs were created and maintained in the regular course of Appriss' business.

Petitioner asserts the circuit court erred in admitting the NPLEX logs as business records, the State failed to lay a proper foundation for admission, and admitting the records violated Rule 403, SCRE. As a threshold matter, the 403 issue is not preserved for appeal. Petitioner's remaining assertions are meritless.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013); State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (same); State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246, 249 (Ct. App. 2015) (same); State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999) (same). A prejudicial abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support, or are controlled by an error of law. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009); State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006) (same).

A. Rule 403, SCRE

Petitioner argues admission of the NPLEX logs was error under Rule 403, SCRE, because they were unduly prejudicial. The only objections to admission of the NPLEX logs at trial were the reliability of the records and Appriss system, and lack of foundation. None of the co-defendants, including Petitioner, objected to the logs under Rule 403. Therefore, the issue is not preserved for appellate review. *See* State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.”).

B. Business Records

Prior to the promulgation of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, South Carolina adopted S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-510, the Uniform Business Record as Evidence Act, which provides:

A record of an act, condition or event shall, insofar as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event and if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission.

See State v. Rice, 375 S.C. 302, 652 S.E.2d 409, 423–24 (Ct. App. 2007) (*citing* S.C. Code Ann. §19-5-510 [1985]), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 710 S.E.2d 55 (2011).

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